
T
his column reports on several 
significant representative deci-
sions handed down recently in 
the U.S. District Court for the 
Eastern District of New York. 

Judge Brian M. Cogan found that defen-
dant’s hostile remarks on Yelp about plain-
tiffs’ medical practice did not amount to 
actionable defamation. Judge Frederic 
Block dealt with motions to dismiss securi-
ties fraud claims against a drug company 
and its executives relating to an off-label 
promotion scheme. And Judge LaShann 
DeArcy Hall ordered an attorney repre-
senting the debtor “in connection with” a 
bankruptcy case to disgorge part of his fee 
for failure to file the requisite statements 
of compensation.

 No Defamation: Critical Review of 
Business on Yelp

In Dr. Mirza v. Amar, 20 CV 2699 (EDNY, 
Jan. 14, 2021), an action alleging defama-
tion, Judge Cogan denied plaintiffs’ motion 
for a default judgment and dismissed the 
case, where defendant’s negative com-
ments on Yelp about Dr. Mirza and his 
medical practice were expressions of 
opinion rather than statements of fact 
and thus not “defamatory”.

Plaintiffs, a medical practice and its 
physician, moved for default judgment 
on their claims for defamation, trade libel 
and tortious interference with contractual 
relations, based on defendant’s critical 
review of Dr. Mirza’s office procedures. 
After receiving Botox from Dr. Mirza, 

defendant serially assailed him on Yelp, 
complaining that the injection procedure 
“is almost [as] quick as a drug deal would 

be,” and that he “uses pre-filled syringes” 
but “[a]ny reputable office ALWAYS mixes 
product IN FRONT of you.” Defendant stat-
ed that she “paid $450 for ‘Volumna’ in my 
nasal folds and lips” but believes it was 
not Volumna because that product does 
not go in those areas and “has a VERY 
pin-point thin needle” that Dr. Mirza did 
not use. She went on: “I suspect he just 
uses watered-down Botox for every ‘filler’ 
procedure.” Defendant invited readers to 
message her if they wished to know the 
“REAL and legitimate doctor” she prefers. 
In updates she called Dr. Mirza “sociopath-
ic” for filing lawsuits in response to criti-
cal Yelp reviews; suggested that readers 
visit a different doctor, like the one who 
treated her without using “fugazzi” (fake) 
fillers; and implored her audience to see a 
“real” doctor. She also accused plaintiffs 
of violating state orders to close during 
the COVID-19 pandemic, claiming that the 
practice is not an essential business.

Plaintiffs are not entitled to a default 
judgment merely by reason of defendant’s 
failure to appear or defend the lawsuit. 
Rather, to obtain judgment in the wake 
of defendant’s default they must show 
that the uncontroverted factual allega-
tions of their complaint establish the 
defendant's liability on each asserted 
cause of action. As to plaintiffs’ defama-
tion claim, this requires that they identify 
false and defamatory statements of fact, 
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Plaintiffs are not entitled to a de-
fault judgment merely by reason 
of defendant’s failure to appear 
or defend the lawsuit. Rather, to 
obtain judgment in the wake of 
defendant’s default they must 
show that the uncontroverted 
factual allegations of their com-
plaint establish the defendant’s 
liability on each asserted cause 
of action.
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as opposed to statements of opinion or 
loose hyperbole. In this regard the court 
must account for the context in which 
the statements were made. Defendant’s 
statements appeared on Yelp—“an Inter-
net forum specifically designed for the 
publication of crowd-sourced opinionated 
reviews about businesses[.]” This signals 
to the reader that the statements are 
expressions of opinion. The full context 
also reveals that a disgruntled customer 
was expressing her subjective feelings of 
dissatisfaction. Slip op. 4-5.

Plaintiffs argued that certain statements 
are provably false because Dr. Mirza uses 
authentic products that are not “fugazzi” 
(fake) and Volumna can be injected any-
where and does not come with any special 
type of needle. Defendant’s statement that 
she “suspect[s]” Dr. Mirza uses watered-
down Botox is an opinion. It does not 
imply that defendant had knowledge of 
facts undisclosed to her audience. Indeed, 
defendant disclosed facts on which her 
opinion was based. While plaintiffs may 
be able to prove her statements about 
Volumna to be false, those statements 
“do not convey facts about plaintiffs, 
but merely serve to support her stated 
opinion about Dr. Mirza’s fillers.” Defen-
dant’s opinion was also based on stated 
facts about the fillers that plaintiffs did 
not dispute. “Fugazzi”, moreover, “is slang 
and strikes me as the type of loose, figura-
tive or hyperbolic statement that is not 
generally actionable.” Slip op 7.

Similarly, viewed in context, the state-
ment that Dr. Mirza is not a “real” doctor 
is figurative and hyperbolic, “even if dep-
recating to plaintiffs.” It does not imply 
undisclosed knowledge that Dr. Mirza has 
no license, nor would a reasonable reader 
interpret it that way. Slip op. 7-8.

For the same reasons, the court saw 
no actionable defamation in other hostile 
follow-up remarks, made after the lawsuit 
started, calling Dr. Mirza “sociopathic” and 

accusing him of “going against state orders 
to be closed.” As the court observed, “Giv-
en the context and the fiery and exces-
sive language, no reasonable audience 
could conclude that defendant’s state-
ment about Dr. Mirza’s mental health has 
any basis in fact.” Her claim about going 
against closing orders is technically one 
of fact that is subject to proof, but no rea-
sonable reader could view the post as an 
expression of fact, especially when read in 
context—a two-paragraph rant about the 
business and this lawsuit. In any event, the 
comments on the business are arguably 
within the sphere of public concern, ren-
dering plaintiffs “limited purpose” public 
figures and requiring them to show “actual 
malice” on defendant’s part, which they 
could not do. Slip op. 8-10.

Plaintiffs’ trade libel and tortious inter-
ference claims were dismissed as duplica-
tive of the defamation claims and based on 
the same purported damage to plaintiffs’ 
reputation.

Shifting gears, Cogan put the case in per-
spective: “Finally, I note that defendant’s 
posts probably disclose a lot more about 
her than they do about plaintiffs. This is 
clearly someone with an axe to grind and 
I do not believe any reasonable reader 
could give her posts any credit. It would 
unduly raise her platform to elevate her 
philippics to the level of defamation.” Slip 
op. 10.

Securities Fraud

In Gordon v. Vanda Pharmaceuticals, 19 
CV 1107 (EDNY, March 10, 2021), Judge 
Block granted in part and denied in part 
a motion to dismiss a securities fraud 
action.

Plaintiffs alleged that their purchases 
of stock in defendant Vanda Pharmaceu-
ticals, a publicly-traded company, were 
induced by material false statements 
from Vanda executives Polymeropoulos, 
Kelly, Reverberi and Gibbs. The complaint 

centered on a scheme in which two Vanda 
drugs, Fanapt and Hetlioz, were touted for 
their ability to treat disorders for which 
they were not FDA approved (the “off-label 
promotion scheme”). Alleging that Vanda’s 
stock dropped precipitously after the off-
label promotion scheme was revealed 
to the public in a report by short seller 
Aurelius Value (the “Aurelius Report”), 
plaintiffs brought claims against Vanda 
and the above-named executives under 
§10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, 15 
U.S.C. §78a et seq.

Defendants moved to dismiss on the 
grounds that plaintiffs had not adequately 
alleged scienter, material misrepresen-
tations or omissions, or loss causation. 
Block dismissed the claims against Kelly, 
Reverberi and Gibbs, and sustained those 
against Vanda and Polymeropoulos.

Plaintiffs failed to plead scienter as to 
Kelly, Reverberi or Gibbs because they 
failed to state with particularity facts giv-
ing rise to a strong inference that those 
defendants had acted with the intent 
to deceive, manipulate, or defraud as 
required under 15 U.S.C. §78u-4(b)(2)(A). 
Plaintiffs argued that, because Fanapt and 
Hetlioz were the only two revenue gener-
ating drugs sold by Vanda, all defendants 
should be presumed to be knowledgeable 
about the off-label promotion scheme. 
Citing Jackson v. Abernathy, 960 F.3d 94, 
99 (2d Cir. 2020), Block found this insuf-
ficient to establish the “connective tissue” 
between the corporate misconduct and 
the alleged false statements. By contrast, 
the complaint’s allegations that Polymero-
poulos actively participated in trainings 
where Vanda’s salesforce was directed to 
market Hetlioz and Fanapt for off-label 
uses met the Jackson standard, and Poly-
meropoulos’ actions in this regard could 
be imputed to Vanda. Slip op. 4-6.

As to material misrepresentations or 
omissions, Polymeropoulos’ statements 
about the marketing of Fanapt “did not 
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communicate that Vanda appears to have 
been actively promoting and marketing 
Fanapt off-label, as a first-line treatment.” 
Defendants’ arguments that his state-
ments were literally truthful, and that 
there was no independent duty to disclose 
information about the off-label promotion 
scheme, failed because Polymeropoulos 
made affirmative statements regarding the 
company’s marketing practices and “once 
a company speaks on an issue or topic, 
there is a duty to tell the whole truth.” 
Meyer v. Jinkosolar Holdings Co., 761 F.3d 
245, 250-51 (2d Cir. 2014). Materiality was 
established because Fanapt accounted for 
40-60% of Vanda’s revenues, amounting to 
hundreds of millions of dollars. Slip op. 7-8.

In denying loss causation, defendants 
emphasized that the off-label marketing 
scheme had been disclosed a week prior 
to the Aurelius Report through the unseal-
ing of a qui tam action. This, however, 
presented a matter of proof to be resolved 
at trial. Slip op. 9.

Disgorgement of Legal Fees

In Rosen v. Nunez, 19 CV 2895 (EDNY, 
March 12, 2021), Judge DeArcy Hall 
affirmed a decision of the bankruptcy 
court ordering appellant Rosen to dis-
gorge $25,000 in attorney fees pursuant 
to 11 U.S.C. §329 and Federal Bankruptcy 
Rule 2016(b).

Under Bankruptcy Code §329 an attor-
ney representing a debtor in a bankruptcy 
case, or in connection with a bankruptcy 
case, must file a statement of compensa-
tion paid or agreed to be paid for services 
rendered, “in contemplation of or in con-
nection with the case by such attorney, 
and the source of such compensation.” 
Under Federal Bankruptcy Rule 2016(b), 
an attorney must file a supplemental state-
ment within 14 days of any payment or 
agreement.

Debtor-Appellee Persio Nunez filed a 
voluntary petition under Chapter 7 of the 

Bankruptcy Code in April 2014. Appellant 
Rosen, an attorney, entered into a retain-
er agreement with Nunez and Margarita 
Ferriera, a non-party to the bankruptcy 
proceeding, in May 2015 for legal servic-
es pertaining to issues involving certain 
property. The agreement provided that 
Nunez and Ferriera would pay Rosen a 
flat fee of $20,000, which was paid by Fer-
riera. In August 2015, Rosen entered into 
a second retainer agreement with Nunez 
and Ferriera, providing for a $50,000 flat 
fee for legal services in connection with 
Nunez’s bankruptcy.

In March 2018, Nunez and Ferriera filed 
a letter informing the bankruptcy court 
that Ferriera had paid a total of $70,000 
to Rosen. At that point Rosen had nei-
ther appeared in the bankruptcy pro-
ceeding nor disclosed the post-petition 

agreements and payments. After an order 
to show cause hearing, the bankruptcy 
court (1) found that Rosen had violated 
his obligation to disclose the agreements 
and payments under 11 U.S.C. §329, and 
(2) ordered disgorgement of $25,000, half 
of the amount paid under the August 2015 
agreement. Rosen appealed the decision 
to the district court.

DeArcy Hall noted that the §329 disclo-
sure obligation was mandatory, without 
exceptions, whether or not counsel seeks 

compensation from the estate. In addition, 
the phrase “in connection with the case” 
includes services that do not impact the 
bankruptcy case. Rosen contended that 
a substantial amount of work done under 
the August agreement did not have any 
impact on the bankruptcy proceeding. But 
the terms of the August agreement cover 
representation impacting the bankruptcy 
case. Rosen did investigate and his inves-
tigation led him to believe Nunez’s bank-
ruptcy petition was fraudulently drafted. 
Even though the fees were paid by a third 
party, those fees must be disclosed if they 
are paid for services in connection with 
the bankruptcy. The failure to disclose 
the August agreement violated Rosen’s 
§329 disclosure obligations.

Rosen contended that the court had no 
authority to order disgorgement of fees 
paid by a third party that were not prop-
erty of the estate. As DeArcy Hall noted, 
the few courts in the Second Circuit that 
have addressed the issue have disagreed 
with that view. Courts in the Fourth, Sixth, 
Ninth and Fifth Circuits have also deter-
mined that the obligations of §329 arise 
not from the source of the payment but 
from the nature of the services rendered. 
Slip op. 8-9. Thus, “the bankruptcy court 
did not err in determining it had jurisdic-
tion over funds paid to [Rosen] by a third 
party.” Slip op. 10-12.
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Under Bankruptcy Code §329 an 
attorney representing a debtor 
in a bankruptcy case, or in con-
nection with a bankruptcy 
case, must file a statement of 
compensation paid or agreed 
to be paid for services rendered, 
“in contemplation of or in con-
nection with the case by such 
attorney, and the source of such 
compensation.”


